STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Edgefield County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

K. C. LANGFORD,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001397

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

 ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

FEB 22 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err by not finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to conduct a sufficient investigation into Petitioner Langford's case by not interviewing the two alibi witnesses, Veronica and Vanessa Phillips, who testified at the PCR hearing that Petitioner Langford was with them during the incident on August 14, 2008?

STATEMENT

In 2008, there was a Chinese restaurant called the Hong Kong restaurant in Johnston. A Chinese couple and their adult son and his wife operated the restaurant. None of them spoke English. App. 173, ll. 23 – App. 174, ll. 10. Within walking distance of the restaurant were the housing authority apartments. App. 175, ll. 1 – 12.

Bryan Phillips lived in the apartments. His cousin, Alvin Phillips, stayed with Alvin's sister, Veronica, in her apartment in the housing authority frequently. K.C. Langford was dating Veronica Phillips who had a son by Langford. Langford stayed with Veronica often at her apartment. App. 177, ll. 21 – Ap. 179, ll. 13.

According to Alvin Philips in his confession to police, in the weeks before this incident on August 14, 2008, Bryan and Alvin watched the Chinese people when they left the restaurant in the evening, and observed that they carried a bag home every evening. Bryan and Alvin suspected that they were bringing home money in the bag. They began planning to rob the Chinese people of this money. When Langford heard of their robbery plan, he allegedly wanted to be part of it also. App. 179, ll.14 – App. 181, ll. 6.

Around 10:30 in the evening on August 14, 2008, Bryan and Alvin allegedly put ski masks on to cover their faces. Alvin retrieved a .40 caliber handgun that he had stolen from a vehicle and hid in the woods. Langford allegedly tied a black T-shirt around his face. Then the three went and waited in the dark in the backyard of the home belonging to the Chinese people. App. 180, ll. 2 – App. 181, ll. 23.

When the Chinese family arrived at home, the older father, Mr. Chen, went outside to water his garden and was stopped by the three robbers who asked for his money. Mr. Chen's son, Mr. Li, went to check on his father in the backyard and was accosted by the three men who asked

him for money. Because they did not understand English, the Chinese did not answer. Langford then allegedly went into the house and grabbed the money bag which contained about \$3000 from the restaurant. The three then ran. App. 175, ll. 25 – App. 176, ll. 10; App. 181, ll. 14 – App. 183, ll. 24.

A few days later, Investigator Roosevelt Young who worked in narcotics, received a tip from an informant, that he should talk to Alvin Phillips about the robbery. When Investigator Young talked to Alvin, Alvin confessed and told the entire story of Bryan Phillips and K.C. Langford being involved. Alvin was seventeen at the time. App. 184, ll. 18 – App. 185, ll. 16; App. 178, ll. 22 – 23.

In December 2008, the Edgefield County Grand jury indicted Petitioner Langford on the charge of criminal conspiracy. In May 2010, the Edgefield County Grand Jury indicted Langford for burglary first degree, armed robbery (AR), and kidnapping. App. 753- App. 754;

On September 6-9, 2010,¹ K.C. Langford, and his co-defendant Bryan Phillips, proceeded to trial before the Honorable William P. Keesley and a jury. Langford was represented by Mark R. Calhoun; and Phillips was represented by Randall Williams. The state was represented by Assistant Solicitor Ervin J. Maye. App. 1; App. 17.

Alvin Phillips, who was a senior at Strom Thurmond High School, at the time of this incident, testified that he and Bryan Phillips, who was his first cousin, watched this Chinese family come and go between their home and work at the restaurant. They allegedly thought the Chinese family might be taking their money from the restaurant home with them because they did not see the family take the money to the bank after work.

¹ The first trial transcript mistakenly had the trial date as January 23, 2011. The court reporter corrected this, and the record reflects the correction.

On August 14, 2008, Alvin and Bryan, decided to rob the Chinese family. Alvin got his gun from inside the house and met Bryan. K.C. Langford, who lived with Alvin's sister, decided to go with them. Alvin said they waited outside in the bushes. When the father came out, Alvin jumped on him and pointed the gun at him. They could not understand what the man said. Then the son came out. Langford went in the house, and then came out running down the street. Alvin and Bryan then ran away also. App. 239, ll. 4 – 25; App. 244, ll. 10 – App. 253, ll. 16. Alvin Phillips testified that he gave a statement to the police confessing to the incident and implicating Bryan and Langford. App. 258, ll. 1 – 23.

Langford nor his co-defendant Bryan Phillips testified at the trial. App. 380, ll 11 – 25.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all charges as indicted. App. 540, ll. 20 – App. 541, ll. 13. Judge Keesley sentenced Langford to twenty years on each of the kidnapping, burglary first degree, and armed robbery. The sentence on criminal conspiracy was five years; all sentences were to run concurrently. App. 565, ll. 1 – 25.

Langford's attorney filed an appeal which was perfected by the Division of Appellate Defense. The Supreme Court certified Langford's appeal pursuant to Rule 204 (b), SCACR from the Court of Appeals to the Supreme Court. App. 754. The Supreme Court affirmed Langford's convictions and sentences in a published opinion on November 21, 2012. State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2010). The United States Supreme Court issued an order denying Langford's petition for a writ of certiorari on October 7, 2013. App. 754.

On July 8, 2014, Langford filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). An amendment to the PCR application was filed January 30, 2017. The state filed a return on May 4, 2015. App. 753. An evidentiary hearing was held on February 1, 2017 before the Honorable

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. Petitioner Langford was represented by Charles T. Brooks, III, and the state was represented by Johanna Valenzuela. App. 616.

Petitioner Langford testified at the PCR hearing that to the best of his knowledge his trial attorney did not hire an investigator to help with Langford's case. App. 622, ll. 14 – App. 623, ll. 17. Langford explained that that he had two alibi witnesses who would have testified that he was at Veronica Phillips' apartment with her during the time of the incident. These witnesses were Veronica Phillips and Vanessa Phillips. He told his lawyer about these women but his lawyer never talked to them. Veronica was the mother of Langford's son. Vanessa Phillips was Veronica's mother. App. 651, ll. 11 – App. 652, ll. 24.

Langford's son was about twenty months old at the time. Langford was "monitoring" his son that night of the incident. Langford was in and out of the apartment during that evening watching his son. He said that Veronica could "vouch" for him being there. Langford testified that he was with Veronica and his child the entire day before and after this crime was committed. He rode with Veronica when she took her mother to work around eleven o'clock that evening. Because they were never called to testify, the jury did not have this information. If these two women had testified, the outcome of his case would have been different. App. 653, ll. 1 – App. 654, ll. 14; App. 686, ll. 1 – App. 687, ll. 4.

Veronica Phillips testified at the PCR hearing that Langford was the father of her son who was age ten at time of PCR hearing. Langford was living with her in August 2008. On August 14, 2008, neither she nor Langford were working. Veronica testified that Langford was at home with her all day on August 14, 2008. Her mother, Vanessa, came to Veronica's house everyday. Veronica stated that Langford was with her all day on August 14, 2008. App. 687, ll.

15- App. 689, ll. 25. Veronica testified that no one had talked to her about Langford's whereabouts on the night of August 14, 2008. App. 691, ll. 2 – 9.

Veronica's testimony was that months after the incident, Investigator Young and another officer came and talked to her about Langford's whereabouts on the night of August 14, 2008. She told them he was home with her. They were asleep on the couch until they took her mother to work. App. 692, ll. 18 – App. 695, ll. 23.

On cross-examination, Veronica said that she had not had a conversation with Langford in almost eight years. She no longer wrote to him. App. 698, ll. 16 – App. 699, ll. 21. She also confirmed that she had never spoken to his trial attorney about Langford being with her on August 14, 2008. App. 703, ll. 1 – 22.

Vanessa Phillips testified that she was Veronica's mother. App. 708, ll. 13 App. 709, ll. 8. She knew Langford and testified that on August 14, 2008, she was at Veronica's apartment. She testified that Langford was there "all day long." He rode with Veronica to take Vanessa to work and to take her back to her house to get her ID for work that she had forgotten. App. 710, ll. 1 – App. 711, ll. 20. She had never talked to the police nor Langford's attorney about Langford being at Veronica's during this incident. No one ever talked to her. App. 712, ll. 1 – App. 713, ll. 23.

When asked on cross examination why she did not come forward with this alibi information, Vanessa replied that no one asked her to testify. App. 714, ll. 10 – 25.

Trial counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he never saw the need for an investigator in Langford's case. He said that Langford never gave him any information to investigate. Trial counsel testified that about two weeks before trial, Langford told counsel that he had two relatives "who were willing to testify that he was with them but it wasn't true." App. 715, ll. 17

Trial counsel told Langford that it would be a “bad idea” to call a young girl who was the mother of his child on the stand to commit perjury. According to trial counsel, Langford dropped the idea and did not go forward on that issue. Counsel said Langford never mentioned it again. App. 716, ll. 1 – App. 717, ll. 25. Counsel said that neither of the two women contacted him. He admitted that he did not speak to them. App. 718, ll. 1 – 7; App. 728, ll. 1 – 5.

When asked if he had received the statement of Veronica Phillips in the Rule 5 discovery sent to him by the solicitor, trial counsel said he did not remember receiving that statement. When shown Ms. Phillips’ statement, trial counsel said that he had never seen that statement. App. 728, ll. 1 – App. 729, ll. 22.

Trial counsel testified that Petitioner Langford was not open to any plea negotiations. He wanted a trial. However, counsel said that Langford did not give him “much to work with.” App. 733, ll. 7 – 25.

The state called the solicitor, Ervin Maye, who prosecuted the case to testify. Solicitor Maye stated that the co-defendant, Alvin Phillips, was a cooperating witness. He provided the names of the people who were arrested. Maye confirmed that there was no “deal” for Alvin Phillips. Maye admitted that the case “came down to Alvin Phillips’ credibility alone.” App. 734, ll. 9 – App. 737, ll. 24. Maye testified that he never heard anything about the alibi testimony until this PCR hearing. App. 745, ll. 1 – 21.

PCR counsel argued to the court that Langford said he received a copy of Veronica Phillips’ statement from his trial counsel in the discovery. PCR counsel argued that the two women who were the alibi witnesses needed to be “talked to” by trial counsel. App. 746, ll. 13 – App. 748, ll. 4. PCR counsel then told the court that the relief Langford was seeking was a new trial. App. 749, ll. 9 – 24.

The PCR judge issued an order on June 15, 2017 denying Petitioner Langford's PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 753 – App. 765. The judge found, regarding trial counsel's failure to investigate the two alibi witnesses, that trial counsel's testimony was credible but found the testimony of the alibi witnesses, Veronica and Vanessa Phillips, to not be credible. The judge wrote that the alibi charge was "not supported by the evidence." The judge found that neither of the two women informed anyone of this "life-changing" alibi. The judge concluded that Langford failed to meet his burden of proving that trial counsel's performance was deficient nor that Langford was prejudiced by counsel's performance. App. 756 – App. 757.

Langford's PCR counsel filed a notice of appeal. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred by not finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to conduct a sufficient investigation into Petitioner Langford's case by not interviewing the two alibi witnesses, Veronica and Vanessa Phillips, who testified at the PCR hearing that Petitioner Langford was with them during the incident on August 14, 2008.

Failure to investigate possible defenses constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Cobbs v. State, 305 S.C. 299, 408 S.E.2d 223 (1991). Counsel representing a criminal defendant has a duty to conduct a reasonable investigation, which encompasses the defendant's right to interview potential witnesses against him. State v. Sanders, 341 S.C. 386, 534 S.E.2d 696 (2000).

In Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007), the Supreme Court held that for purposes of the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, while the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*; Butler v. State, *supra*.

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional