STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUL 09 2018

CERTIORARI TO EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-001397

K. C. LANGFORD,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KELLY OPPENHEIMER
S.C. Bar No. 103245
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

There is evidence of probative value to support the post-conviction relief court's finding Petitioner failed to establish trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate an alibi defense, namely two alleged alibi witnesses, when the alleged alibi was not supported by credible evidence, trial counsel knew the alleged alibi witnesses would be lying as to Petitioner's whereabouts, and was an imperfect alibi.

Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred in finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate two alleged alibi witness, Veronica and Vanessa Phillips. Furthermore, Petitioner contends trial counsel was required to ask Petitioner for the information to investigate, rather than relying on Petitioner for any investigative information. In denying Petitioner's allegation his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate these alleged alibi witnesses, the post-conviction relief court found an alibi charge was not supported by credible evidence. The post-conviction relief court further found trial counsel's testimony with respect to the alibi issue was credible, whereas Veronica and Vanessa Phillips's testimony was not credible. This ruling is supported by the record.

“Although counsel should conduct a reasonable investigation into potential defenses, *Strickland* does not impose a constitutional requirement that counsel uncover every scrap of evidence that could conceivably help their client.” *Tucker v. Ozmint*, 350 F.3d 433, 442 (4th Cir. 2003) (quoting *Green v. French*, 143 F.3d 865, 892 (4th Cir. 1998)). “In any ineffectiveness case, a particular decision not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances, applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.” *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521-22 (2003).

Encompassed in counsel's duty to investigate is the duty to investigate alibi witnesses **identified by a defendant**. *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014) (citing *Grooms v. Solem*, 923 F.3d 88, 90 (8th Cir. 1991)) (emphasis added). "Failure to make some effort to contact them to ascertain whether their testimony would aid the defense is unreasonable." *Id.* However, when the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing from purported alibi witnesses do not establish an alibi defense, no prejudice can result from the alleged deficiency. *See Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995) (holding trial counsel's failure to contact alleged alibi witnesses did not result in prejudice when the testimony these alibi witnesses presented did not establish an alibi defense). Moreover, questions concerning the weight and believability of alibi witnesses is solely within the province of the post-conviction relief court. *Walker*, 407 S.C. at 407, 756 S.E.2d at 147.

At the evidentiary hearing, Veronica Phillips testified no one ever asked her about Petitioner's whereabouts on the day of these crimes, and she never spoke with trial counsel. App. 691, 703. Similarly, Vanessa Phillips also testified no one ever asked her about Petitioner's whereabouts. App. 712, 714. Trial counsel, however, testified Petitioner never gave him any information to investigate, and neither Vanessa nor Veronica or any other of Petitioner's family members contacted him prior to trial. App. 717, 718, 728-29, 732. He explained:

[Petitioner] essentially didn't give me any defense to hand my hat on. The allegation is that he was with two family members at the time of the robbery. That was not brought up until about two weeks before the trial and when it was brought to my attention, it was essentially presented to me, hey, **I have got a couple of relatives who are willing to testify that I was with them but it wasn't true** and I told [Petitioner] that it would be a bad idea to put a young girl that's the mother of his child or a relative up on the stand to commit perjury and that the Solicitor would probably chew her up and it would make [Petitioner] look a lot more bad than good and when I explained that to him, he dropped it.

App. 717 (emphasis added). Trial counsel further testified he believed this purported alibi would be false based on the fact Petitioner had never previously told him he was not present at the crime scene nor that he was with anybody at the time of these crimes. App. 730-31. He elaborated Petitioner did not give him the names of these individuals. App. 728, 733. **He further elaborated Petitioner never stated he was actually with these individuals and made it clear any alibi these alleged alibi witnesses would testify to would be a lie.** App. 717, 730. Based on the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing, the post-conviction relief court found trial counsel's testimony was credible, whereas Veronica and Vanessa Phillips' testimony was not credible. App. 757.

For the months leading up to trial, Petitioner never gave trial counsel any leads to investigate. It was not until the ninth hour Petitioner informed trial counsel there were two individuals who would testify to his whereabouts at the time of these crimes. However, Petitioner never provided trial counsel with any identifying information for these individuals, making any investigation into them impossible. Furthermore, Petitioner made it clear to trial counsel any alibi to which these individuals would testify would be a lie. Accordingly, there is evidence in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's finding the alleged alibi was not supported by credible evidence.

"A lawyer shall not knowingly offer evidence that the lawyer knows to be false." Rule 407, SCACR, Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rule 3.3(a)(3). Furthermore, "a lawyer may refuse to offer evidence, other than the testimony of a defendant in a criminal matter, that the law reasonably believes is false." *Id.* In addition, trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. Indeed, "no particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct

can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. Moreover, “representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another.” *Id.* at 693. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel’s performance should not be found ineffective. *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); *Underwood v. State*, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Whitehead v. State*, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). In fact, *Strickland* requires extreme deference to counsel’s strategic judgments that are adequately investigated. Indeed, *Strickland* proscribes “strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable. . . .” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91.

As aforementioned, trial counsel knew the testimony any alibi witnesses would have presented at trial would have been false. Based on this, trial counsel explained to Petitioner it would be a bad idea to put the mother of his child and a relative on the stand to commit perjury. Trial counsel clearly made a strategic decision not to present these alleged alibi witnesses at trial, as he knew any alibi they presented would have been a lie.

Additionally, through an alibi, an accused attempts “to show that because he was not at the scene of the crime at the time of its commission, having been at another place at the time, he could not have committed the crime.” *State v. Robbins*, 275 S.C. 373, 375, 271 S.E.2d 319, 320

(1980) (quoting 21 Am. Jur. 2d Criminal Law § 136)). To do so, the accused must show “he was at a place so distant that his participation in the crime was impossible.” *Id.* Furthermore, the alibi must account for the entire time during which these crimes were committed. *Id.* “Since an alibi derives its potency as a defense from the fact that it involves the physical impossibility of the accused’s guilt, a purported alibi which leaves it possible for the accused to be the guilty person is no alibi at all.” *Glover*, 318 S.C. at 498, 458 S.E.2d 540 (citing *Robbins*, 275 S.C. 373, 271 S.E.2d 319).

Here, Petitioner testified he informed trial counsel he was at Veronica Phillips’ house on the day of the robbery. App. 651-52. Her residence was a short distance from the crime scene, approximately one-eighth of a mile. App. 654, 683. Petitioner elaborated he was at their home all day, but was in and out of the house from the porch to the living room, monitoring his twenty-month-old son, who was outside playing with two other children. App. 653, 682. He further testified his twenty-month-old son was outside playing at approximately 10:45 in the evening. App. 682. Similarly, Veronica Phillips testified Petitioner was at home with her all day, and they fell asleep on the couch together until it was time to take her mother, Vanessa Phillips, to work at approximately eleven o’clock in the evening. App. 690, 693-94, 701-02. Veronica also testified it would have been impossible for Petitioner to have left the apartment without her knowing. App. 694. However, the statement Veronica provided to law enforcement told a different tale. In that statement, Veronica stated as she was leaving to take her mother to work, approximately 10:45 in the evening, Petitioner and Alvin came into her house. App. 752. Vanessa Phillips testified similarly. App. 710-11.

The above testimony does not establish an alibi. In particular, the location at which Petitioner alleges to have been during the commission of this crime is a short distance from the crime scene. In fact, due to the proximity of the two locations, it is entirely conceivable Petitioner could have committed these crimes and returned to the apartment in time to take Vanessa to work with Veronica. Furthermore, Petitioner and Veronica gave differing accounts of Petitioner's day. Notably, Petitioner testified he was outside with his twenty-month-old son at approximately 10:45 in the evening, whereas Veronica testified the two were asleep on the couch. Additionally, no one could verify if Petitioner was, in fact, outside with his young son at the time these crimes were committed. Moreover, Veronica's statement to law enforcement contradicts her testimony at the evidentiary hearing, specifically Petitioner did not arrive at her home until 10:45 in the evening. Accordingly, the testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing merely presents an imperfect alibi.

In conclusion, there is probative value in the record to support the post-conviction relief court's finding trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate Veronica and Vanessa Phillips as alibi witnesses, because trial counsel was not told about the alleged alibi until the last minute, was told the purported alibi would be false, and was not an alibi at all.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny this Petition for a Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the petition, Respondent seeks permission to more fully brief the issues herein.